

ISSN 1732-4254 quarterly

Bulletin of Geography. Socio-economic Series, No. 55 (2022): 95–106 http://doi.org/10.12775/bgss-2022-0007

BULLETIN OF GEOGRAPHY. SOCIO-ECONOMIC SERIES

journal homepages: https://apcz.umk.pl/BGSS/index https://www.bulletinofgeography.umk.pl/

# Comparative analysis of health expectancy indicators in older adult men and women in selected European countries

## Wiktoria Wróblewska

*Warsaw School of Economics - SGH*, Institute of Statistics and Demography, al. Niepodległości 162, 02-554 Warsaw, Poland, e-mail: wwrobl@sgh.waw.pl, https://orcid.org/0000-0003-4150-1226

#### How to cite:

Wróblewska, W. (2022). Comparative analysis of health expectancy indicators in older adult men and women in selected European countries. *Bulletin of Geography. Socio-economic Series*, 55(55): 95-106. DOI: http://doi.org/10.12775/bgss-2022-0007

**Abstract.** The study concerns the assessment of the health of older adults in selected European countries using summary measures of population health. These measures show to what extent increasing life span goes hand in hand with a healthier life, and to what extent it is burdened by health limitations and disability. This paper covers such health domains as self-perceived health, functional limitations, chronic morbidity and disability. Data on the health of people aged 60 and over came from Wave 7 of SHARE, and Sullivan's method was used to calculate health expectancy measures. The multivariate nature of the health status measurement prompted us to also use a multivariate comparative analysis and to determine a synthetic measure of health status. The results showed large disproportions in health expectancy indicators in the later years of life of men and women in the European countries analysed, and these differences are greater than those relating to life expectancy.

Article details: Received: 27 August 2021 Revised: 15 November 2021 Accepted: 5 March 2022

#### Key words: Health expectancies, self-perceived health, functional limitations, ADL, IADL, SHARE, European countries

## **Contents:**

1. Introduction	96
2. Research objective and study object.	96
3. Data and statistical methods	97
4. Research	98
4.1. Prevalence of ill-health	98
4.2. Health expectancy indicators	99
4.3. Synthetic measure of health	101
5. Conclusions and discussion	102
Acknowledgements	104
References	104

© 2022 (Wiktoria Wróblewska ) This is an open access article licensed under the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivs License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

## 1. Introduction

The last few decades have been characterised by a continuous decline in mortality and an increase in chance of surviving to an increasingly later age. Not only has life expectancy at birth increased, but so too have life expectancies at 60 and older. Ageat-death and cause-of-death patterns have changed significantly. Since the 1970s, there has been an increase in the proportion of chronic and noncommunicable diseases as the dominant causes of death, and a shift in mortality to older ages. This is in line with the theory of epidemiological transition, according to which, in phase four, the main beneficiaries of the extension of life expectancy are older adults (Olshansky & Ault, 1988). These changes are also followed by shifts in the occurrence of functional limitations and disabilities to older adults and a change in disability patterns, as described by Myers and co-authors (2003). Mortality measures and life table parameters with only two states alive and dead - are no longer sufficient to monitor the health status of the population. There has been a shift in focus of research interests from life expectancy to expectancy of life that is sufficiently healthy to remain physically and socially active i.e. healthy life expectancy. The importance of the health status of older adults has also been revealed by the COVID-19 pandemic, whose dramatic effects - risk of death - increased not only with age, but also with the occurrence of co-morbidities.

Since the mid-1990s, considerable research effort has been made to construct new measures of population health that combine information on mortality and non-fatal health outcomes. These measures are called "summary measures of population health" and are divided into two groups: health gaps and health expectancies (Murray et al., 2002; Wróblewska, 2008). Health gaps are used to estimate population health losses by quantifying the difference between current health status and established norms or targets for population health. An example of a measure of lack of health is the disability-adjusted life year, which is used for measurement in research into burden of disease and injury (e.g. Kyu et al. 2018). Measures of health expectancies are a combination of life expectancy and years lived in less-than-full health

states, and determine the average number of years that a person of a certain age is expected to live a healthy life provided that current mortality and health status trends continue. Health expectancy is a generic term covering various measures, which are theoretically as numerous as health concepts are. This paper looks at a summary of measures of population health from the health expectancies group, whose estimates shed light on whether longer life goes hand in hand with a healthier life, or whether the extra years of life are years of ill health and disability. Such knowledge is very important and continues to be relevant both for monitoring population health trends and inequalities, and for regional and European health policies, as the poor health status of the expanding population of older adults creates new challenges for the care system and places additional burdens on the healthcare system.

## 2. Research objective and study object

The objective of this paper is to provide a broader assessment of the health of older people in 12 European countries using measures of health expectancies covering various health domains. Based on data from the Survey of Health, Aging and Retirement in Europe (SHARE) carried out in 2017 (Börsch-Supan, 2020) and data on mortality obtained from the Human Mortality Database (HMD, 2021), five health expectancy indicators were estimated: (1) life expectancy in good selfperceived health, (2) life expectancy without chronic morbidity or with one chronic morbidity, (3) life expectancy without global activity limitation, (4) life expectancy without ADL limitation, and (5) life expectancy without IADL limitation. We examine people aged 60 - the age at which morbidity and functional limitations begin to rapidly increase. The health expectancy indicators in our analysis cover various domains of older-adult health and better capture its multidimensionality, and collectively largely cover many aspects of worsening health status and the disablement process (Verbrugge & Jette, 1994; Cambois et al., 2008).

(1) – Life expectancy in good self-perceived health (*LE in good health*) is a health expectancy based on a subjective health indicator known as self-perceived

health (SPH). SPH is a widely used indicator in social research, and its results are associated with many aspects of quality of life and health states, such as physical function and the incidence of disease and disability. At the same time, it may include other aspects of health not captured by other health indicators - in particular, non-diagnosed sickness and depressive states (Martikainen et al., 1999; Van Oyen et al., 2008; Hardy et al., 2014). Poor self-perceived health is also a good predictor of mortality and hospitalisation (DeSalvo et al., 2006). Self-assessed health on the population level is a simple single-item question: "Would you say your health is excellent, very good, good, fair, or poor?" Our research uses results aggregated to the categories "at least good" (i.e. excellent, very good and good) and less than good" (i.e. fair and poor). (2) - One of the common aspects of worsening health status is the emergence of chronic morbidities. Especially in the case of older adults, their occurrence is conducive to the appearance or intensification of functional limitations and is strongly associated with disability (Guccione et al., 1994; Fong, 2019). Our study estimated life expectancy without chronic morbidity or with one chronic morbidity (LE without chronic morbidity or with one). The information on the occurrence of chronic morbidities in the SHARE study relates to doctor-diagnosed diseases and included a broad number of somatic diseases and chronic morbidities, and a category of "other diseases". The chronic morbidities in the checklist included over twenty different diseases and chronic conditions, including cardiovascular and metabolic diseases, degenerative diseases and fractures, affective disorders and nervous system diseases, and neoplastic diseases. The list of conditions did not include all conditions, such as injuries and dementia. (3) - Life expectancy without global activity limitation (LE without global activity limitation) is also known as Healthy Life Years (HLY) and one of the basic set of the structural indicators that the European Union uses to monitor progress in strategic EU policies, including in the area of retirement age (Bogaert et al., 2018). The HLY is designed based on the global activity limitation index (GALI), which determines the incidence of limitations - in performing actions and undertaking various common activities - due to health problems. GALI is a good predictor of future

health outcomes in terms of both mortality and healthcare expenditure, and it and self-assessment of health status are complementary to one other (Van Oyen et al., 2018). The GALI is self-reported and refers to the question: "For the past six months at least, to what extent have you been limited because of a health problem in activities people usually do?" There are three possible responses: not limited, moderately limited, or severely limited. In the HLY estimate we defined respondents as being in a healthy state if they reported being "not limited". (4) - Life expectancy without ADL limitation (LE without ADL limitation) and (5) - Life expectancy without IADL limitation (LE without IADL limitation) are basic indicators of years of life without disability and are constructed on the basis of measures of activities of daily living (ADL) and instrumental activities of daily living (IADL). The activities included in these indicators are those considered essential for independent living. The ADL module, as originally proposed by Katz and co-authors (1963), assesses the occurrence of difficulties in carrying out daily activities such as dressing, walking, independent bathing, eating, getting out of bed and using the toilet. The activities comprising the ADL indicator represent the capacity for self-care. The activities comprising the IADL index, as proposed by Lawton and Brody (1969), relate to daily life, and the skills they require are not only physical but also cognitive. These are: preparing a hot meal, making purchases, leaving the home and using public transport, making phone calls, taking medicines, managing money, doing laundry and being able to do housework or gardening. The IADL indicator makes it possible to assess the capacity for basic functioning in the real world, and to objectify the need for help and instrumental support.

## 3. Data and statistical methods

First, the prevalence of ill-health measures for population aged 60 years and over was compared by country, stratified by sex. Prevalence rates were adjusted for age to the European standard population. Data on the occurrence of individual morbidities stratified by sex and in five-year age intervals (from 60–64 years to 85 years and over) were obtained from SHARE's Wave 7. SHARE is a multidisciplinary international panel study of micro data on health and various aspects of the lives of older Europeans. The SHARE study provides the knowledge needed for European and national goals to support policies for older adults in Europe. Methodological details of the data collection procedures have previously been described and can be found in Börsch-Supan et al. (2013). The analyses were conducted for 12 European countries (Fig. 1) for which there was a large sample size (N>2,500) of older adults aged 60+ in SHARE's Wave 7. After excluding individuals for whom data on demographic characteristics were missing, our sample comprises 39,840 individuals: 17,558 men (44.1%) and 22,282 women (55.9%).

The calculation of health expectancy measures was based on the method introduced by Sullivan (1971). According to this method, the predicted years of life in particular states of health are calculated by combining age- and sex-specific cross-sectional prevalence rates with person-years lived in specific age categories, which were obtained from period life tables. This method of estimating prevalence-based health expectancy indicators allows remaining life expectancy to be divided into healthy and ill-healthy years. Sullivan's method is a widely used approach to health expectancy analysis that estimates health expectancy well over the long term, provided that



Fig. 1. Map of Europe showing the analysed countries. Source: own elaboration

changes in health are not sudden and are relatively regular (Mathers & Robine, 1997). The health expectancy measures estimation method is based on building life tables, which ensures that the measures are independent of age structures and comparable across time and populations.

Healthy life expectancy indicators at age 60 (*HLEI*<sub>60</sub>), which specifies the number of years that people aged 60 can expect in particular health states, are expressed as indices ranging from (1) to (5). These were determined according to the formula:

$$HLEI_{60} = \frac{1}{l_{60}} \sum_{a=60}^{85+} L_a P_a$$

where  $l_{60}$  is the numbers surviving to age 60,  $L_a$  is the person-years lived for each age interval ( $l_{60}$  and  $L_a$  from a period life table), and  $P_a$  is the observed prevalence of the health status for the age interval (for details on the method, see Jagger et al., 2007).

The multivariate nature of the measurement of health and health expectancies measures prompted us to use multivariate comparative analysis in the final part and to determine a synthetic measure or synthetic indicator of the health status of people aged 60+. This was done by linear ordering of objects based on a synthetic measure (Panek, 2009). The indices of health expectancies from (1) to (5) and life expectancies at age 60 (LE at age 60) were used as diagnostic variables. In the normalisation of indicators to make the diagnostic variables comparable, the zero unitarisation method was used (Kukuła, 2000). A benchmark was established consisting of the best values of each of the diagnostic variables and the Euclidean distances to this benchmark were calculated, and then the value of the synthetic measure was determined for each country. Countries were classified into three similar groups based on a division of the range of the synthetic measure.

## 4. Research

## 4.1. Prevalence of ill-health

There are significant differences in the prevalence of individual health problems and differences between countries (Fig. 2). Health limitations most often appear in global activity limitation and the occurrence of two or more chronic morbidities, while limitations in basic activities are much less frequent, and disability associated with the inability to perform instrumental activities of daily living is the least frequent. In Estonia, there is a relatively high proportion of people aged 60+ with health status below good and global activity limitations, among both men and women (nearly 70%). In Poland, these percentages are also among the highest, as is the case with the incidence of chronic morbidities. In these two countries, as well as in the Czech Republic, Belgium, Greece and Spain, there is a significant proportion of people with limitations in basic ADLs - nearly one in three women aged 60+ has at least one such restriction. The proportion of women who are chronically ill, have limitations in performing basic activities and assess their health as poor or fair is greater than that of men. Only for limitations in performing instrumental activities of daily living (IADL) were there no differences in prevalence due to sex. It is worth noting that the occurrence of chronic morbidities (two or more) in most of the countries is not identical to poor selfreported health. Such a co-occurrence is only found in Poland, Estonia and Italy (the point markers for these measures in Fig. 2 all lie on the same grid line).

#### 4.2. Health expectancy indicators

Table 1 shows our estimates of health expectancy indicators, which determine the average number of years a person aged 60 is expected to live in the particular health state. Table 2 specifies years of life in specific health states as a percentage of remaining life years for people aged 60.

Comparing life expectancy in a particular health state for older adults at age 60 across the analysed European countries brings to light huge disparities in the health of older adults between countries, for both men and women. At the same time, the disproportions in indicators are greater for health expectancy at 60 than for life expectancy at 60. The mean variation of *LE at age 60* measured by standard deviation is 1.7 years for men and 1.3 years for women, while, for instance, the standard deviations of *LE in good health* are 3.4 years for men and 3.5 years for women.

We observed very pronounced differences between the analysed countries in *LE in good health* and *LE without global activity limitation*, as well as in *LE without chronic morbidity or with one* (for women). For instance, in Sweden and Belgium, *LE in good health* of men aged 60 was over 15 years, whereas in Estonia it was only 4.5



**Fig. 2.** Age-adjusted prevalence rates of ill-health measures<sup>a</sup> for population aged 60+ years, by country and sex. <sup>a</sup> SPH (poor or fair) – fair or poor self-reported health (less than good); GALI(yes) – health reductions in global activity limitation (lasting at least six months); Morbidity(2+) – the occurrence of two or more chronic diseases; ADL(1+) – one or more limitations in basic activities of daily living; IADL(1+) – one or more limitations in instrumental activities of daily living Source: Elaborated by the author

years, and in Poland 7.7 years. LE in good health for women ranged between 16.6 years in Sweden and Belgium and 5.2 years in Estonia, and was 9 years in Poland. By far the highest values of LE without global activity limitation were recorded for men and women in Greece, for whom the life expectancy in HLY at 60 is almost twice as long as in Estonia and the Czech Republic. Poles have the lowest LE without chronic morbidity or with one. Compared to Sweden, life without chronic morbidity or with only one in Poland is a little over one third as long for women (4.3 years vs 12.8 years) and a little over half as long for men (6.9 years vs 12.7 years). Differences among older adults from the analysed countries are smaller in the disability domain, i.e. *LE without ADL* limitation and LE without IADL limitation. However, life expectancy without disability remains lowest in Central and Eastern Europe (Estonia, Poland and the Czech Republic).

Analysing life expectancy in individual health states for men and women, we see that the differences between sexes are much smaller than differences in *LE at age 60*. The greatest sex-based differences occur for *LE without IADL limitation*. In the 12 countries, men at age 60 could expect an average of 21.7 years of life, which is 4.1 years less than for women (25.8 years), and for *LE without IADL limitation*, men could expect an average of 18.7 years, and women 21.1 years (a difference of 2.4 years). Health expectancy differences by sex varied from country to country. Thus, in Southern European countries (Greece, Italy and Spain), and in Belgium, men could expect to exceed women in *LE without ADL limitation, LE without chronic morbidity or with one and HLY*. In the remaining countries, in general, women have more years of life in better health than men, and particularly in Slovenia, Poland and Estonia.

Years lived in need of help and instrumental support (IADL) constitute from 6% (in Greece) to 20% (in Poland) of LE at age 60 for men and from 11% (in Spain) to nearly 30% (in Estonia) of LE at age 60 for women (Table 2). Years lived with personal care activity restrictions (ADL) account for a slightly larger proportion of the life years of older adults than do years with IADL. In most of the analysed countries, years lived with personal care activity restrictions account for over 30% of total LE for women, and nearly 40% in Estonia, Germany and Sweden. The proportion of life years with ADL restriction is lowest among women in Spain (20%), and then in Slovenia (25%) and Greece (26%). Of women's LE at age 60, the smallest percentage is spent without chronic morbidities or with no more than one, with this health status ranging from less than 20% (in Poland) to nearly 50% (in Spain). The proportion of life years with no chronic morbidities or only one is slightly higher for men

									Czech			
	Austria	Belgium	France	Germany	Greece	Italy	Spain	Sweden	Republic	Estonia	Poland	Slovenia
						Me	n					
LE at age 60	24.1	22.2	23.1	21.6	22.0	23.1	23.0	23.2	19.6	18.6	19.0	21.1
LE in good health	14.6	15.3	14.0	11.8	14.2	12.5	12.5	15.9	13.1	4.5	7.7	10.9
LE without global activity limitation	10.7	11.0	11.6	9.2	15.9	12.8	13.7	12.9	8.1	7.0	11.7	9.1
LE without chronic morbidity or with one	11.3	9.3	10.4	8.8	9.1	11.7	9.4	12.7	7.2	9.1	6.9	9.6
LE without ADL limitation	18.8	17.2	19.2	18.0	18.0	19.0	17.8	20.2	15.8	14.4	14.7	17.3
LE without IADL limitation	20.7	18.8	19.5	18.3	20.6	20.5	19.9	20.6	16.5	15.7	15.3	18.1
						Won	ıen					
LE at age 60	27.1	25.8	27.8	25.3	25.4	26.6	27.5	25.8	23.8	24.5	23.9	25.5
LE in good health	15.3	16.6	15.9	12.0	13.9	11.5	12.1	16.6	15.8	5.2	9.0	13.3
LE without global activity limitation	10.7	10.9	12.6	9.0	15.9	12.7	13.3	11.5	9.6	7.7	12.0	10.5
LE without chronic morbidity or with one	11.5	9.1	10.8	8.9	8.6	11.0	8.9	12.8	7.6	9.5	4.3	10.8
LE without ADL limitation	18.0	16.5	19.9	18.9	16.1	18.4	17.3	20.7	16.7	16.4	16.5	18.9
LE without IADL limitation	22.1	19.7	22.9	20.5	22.4	21.4	21.2	23.1	19.7	19.8	18.7	22.1

Table 1. Life expectancy and health expectancies indicators among men and women at age 60, by country

Source: Elaborated by the author

	Czeen											
	Austria	Sweden	France	Italy	Spain	Belgium	Greece	Germany	Slovenia	Republic	Poland	Estonia
							Men					
LE in good health	60.8%	68.6%	60.6%	54.1%	54.3%	69.0%	64.8%	54.7%	51.9%	66.8%	40.5%	24.4%
LE without global activity limitation	44.2%	55.5%	50.2%	55.6%	59.5%	49.6%	72.4%	42.6%	43.0%	41.3%	60.4%	37.4%
LE without chronic morbidity or with one	47.1%	54.7%	45.0%	50.6%	41.0%	42.1%	41.4%	40.7%	45.5%	36.5%	36.3%	48.9%
LE without ADL limitation	78.2%	87.1%	83.2%	82.4%	77.6%	77.5%	81.8%	83.1%	81.9%	80.4%	77.5%	77.4%
LE without IADL limitation	86.1%	88.5%	84.5%	88.7%	86.7%	84.9%	93.8%	84.5%	85.9%	84.1%	80.5%	84.6%
	Women											
LE in good health	57.3%	44.0%	56.3%	43.1%	64.4%	64.1%	52.3%	54.7%	47.4%	21.3%	37.6%	56.7%
LE without global activity limitation	45.3%	48.3%	39.4%	47.8%	44.5%	42.2%	41.2%	62.7%	35.6%	31.7%	50.0%	34.4%
LE without chronic morbidity or with one	38.7%	32.5%	42.3%	41.4%	49.5%	35.1%	42.2%	34.0%	35.1%	38.7%	17.8%	27.5%
LE without ADL limitation	71.4%	62.9%	66.3%	69.0%	80.1%	64.1%	73.9%	63.4%	74.7%	67.2%	68.8%	59.9%
LE without IADL limitation	82.5%	77.1%	81.5%	80.5%	89.4%	76.4%	86.7%	88.3%	81.0%	81.0%	78.0%	70.7%

Table 2. Health expectancy indicators among men and women at age 60, by country (in percent of life expectancy at age 60)

Source: Elaborated by the author

than for women (from 36% in the Czech Republic and Poland to 55% in Sweden) and is similar to the proportion of years free of functional limitations (*HLY*). Men aged 60 years survive almost half of their remaining years of life without functional limitations due to poor health, ranging from 37% (in Estonia) to 72% (in Greece).

#### 4.3. Synthetic measure of health

Table 3 presents the ordered estimations of the synthetic measure of health status produced by the multivariate analysis of health expectancy indicators and life expectancy, and a categorisation of the 12 countries into three groups according to their level of the measure. The higher the level of the indicator, the better the country's position in this ranking.

Sweden is in first place in terms of men's health status. Men aged 60 in Sweden had the best results of all analysed countries for *LE in good health, LE without morbidity* and *LE without ADL*. Second place for men was taken by Italy, whose results were close to the benchmark for most of the analysed health expectancy measures but were not the highest for any. Alongside Sweden and Italy, the Group I countries with the most favourable health status for men were Austria, Greece, Spain and France. Austria recorded the highest values of *LE at age 60* and the most years of life without IADL limitation. In Greece, 60-year-old men had the longest life without limitation in activity (GALI). There are three Group II countries, where the health status can be described as "good": Belgium, Germany and Slovenia. Group III has a low level of the synthetic measure and the worst health status for men, and alongside Estonia and Poland includes the Czech Republic. Men in Estonia had the shortest LE at age 60, the shortest life expectancy in good health and the shortest HLY and LE without ADL limitation. Men in Poland were furthest from the benchmark in terms of life expectancy with at most one chronic morbidity and LE without IADL limitation. In the Czech Republic, the synthetic measure of men's health was twice as high as in Poland and over three times as high as in Estonia, but at the same time it was only half that of Slovenia, which was ranked lowest in group II.

The results for women indicate that women in their 60s in France and Sweden have the best health status. French women at this age can enjoy the longest overall life expectancy (LE at age 60), and their life expectancy without IADL and ADL disabilities is close to the benchmark. Swedish women were a model for other countries in terms of life expectancy in good health and with zero to one chronic morbidities. Women in Sweden had slightly worse life expectancies without GALI functional limitations. Women in Austria, whose synthetic measure is similar to the results for Italy, have a long life in good health and without chronic morbidities. Italian women obtained a result close to the benchmark in the LE at age 60 dimension and LE without morbidity. In group II, with an average health status of women, Slovenia and Spain achieved the best results for the synthetic measure. Greece, Germany and Belgium, which are also in group II, obtained much lower values of this index than Slovenia and Spain. Moreover, in some dimensions of health status, these countries' performance was among the weakest in the entire group of 12 countries. For example, women in Greece were furthest from the benchmarks in the LE without ADL limitation dimension, and women in Germany had one of the shortest HLY life expectancies. Last in the ranking of countries are Czech Republic, Estonia and Poland, which obtained the lowest values of the synthetic health status indicator. Women in Estonia have the worst health indicators in terms of life expectancy in good health, without GALI functional limitations and without disability (ADL), and women in Poland have the shortest life expectancy with at most one chronic morbidity and without disability (IADL). Moreover, 60-year-old women in Poland and the Czech Republic have the shortest LE at age 60.

#### 5. Conclusions and discussion

Analyses carried out for the population aged 60 and over in 12 European countries showed that

the longest life expectancy is for life without disability restricting the ability to function basically in the environment (i.e. without IADL limitation), without disability hampering the performance of everyday activities (i.e. without ADL limitation), without chronic morbidities or with at most one, and without GALI functional limitations. A chronic morbidity may coexist with functional limitations that generally allow for general work, home or self-care activity and allow a person to remain independent in everyday life. Our study results confirmed that the majority of people reporting functional limitations do not report limitations in activity measured by ADL and IADL (Cambois et al., 2008; Jagger et al., 2010). Restrictions on performing activities that are considered necessary for independent living appear later - from the age of nearly 75 to 80 (depending on country). However, the emergence of a chronic morbidity or functional limitations may initiate further restrictions in instrumental or basic activities of daily living and be seen as a predictor of these limitations (Jagger et al., 2001; Jagger et al., 2010).

The study showed large disparities in health expectancy indicators between countries. This may indicate significant health inequalities in the later years of life in the analysed European countries.

Table 3. Synthetic measure of health and country classification into one of three groups<sup>a</sup>

Group number	Ме	n	Group number	Women			
Ι	Sweden	0.847	Ι	France	0.779		
Ι	Italy	0.765	Ι	Sweden	0.684		
Ι	Austria	0.718	Ι	Austria	0.595		
Ι	France	0.701	Ι	Italy	0.595		
Ι	Spain	0.654	II	Slovenia	0.545		
Ι	Greece	0.654	II	Spain	0.522		
II	Belgium	0.557	II	Greece	0.441		
II	Germany	0.463	II	Germany	0.394		
II	Slovenia	0.440	II	Belgium	0.357		
III	Czech Republic	0.223	III	Czech Republi	c 0.207		
III	Poland	0.129	III	Estonia	0.106		
III	Estonia	0.061	III	Poland	0.088		

<sup>a</sup> Classification of country into group by dividing range of synthetic measure into three equal parts Source: Elaborated by the author These differences are greatest for life expectancy without functional limitations and life expectancy in good health, and are slightly smaller for years of life with disability. Generally, it can be observed that the more serious the difficulties and limitations in health, the smaller the difference between countries in life expectancy in a given health state. However, for each of the measures, including for LE without ADL and IADL disability, these differences remain high.

Our analyses confirmed greater differences between countries for the level of health expectancies than for life expectancy at age 60, and countries of Central and Eastern Europe can expect significantly fewer years of life without health restrictions than other more affluent countries (Jagger et al., 2011; Pongiglione et al., 2015; de Breij et al., 2019; Scherbov & Weber, 2017). As shown by the analyses of de Breij et al. (2019) for 18 European countries, macro-level factors, including higher total social expenditures, higher health expenditure and a higher replacement rate, reduced the differences between countries in post-retirement health. These factors can compensate for the occurrence of chronic morbidities and functional limitations and make them less severe for older adults in countries such as Belgium, France, Sweden, Austria and Greece, where life expectancy with good health assessments is much longer than life expectancy without chronic morbidities or functional limitations. The converse was true for Poland, Estonia and, to some extent, Italy. It is also possible that this may be influenced by cultural differences and the subjective perception of health status in different countries.

The sex-based results confirmed the overall report that although older women may experience worse health status and functional limitations more often, they have more years to live than men (e.g. Crimmins et al., 2011; Case & Paxson, 2005; Pongiglione et al., 2015; Van Oyen et al., 2012). Our life expectancy analyses based on a broader range of health measures have shown that differences in healthy life expectancy between men and women vary between health domains and are not the same across countries. Only for one health indicator – LE without IADL limitation – was the life expectancy of women longer than that of men across all countries. For other indicators, the health expectancy by sex was similar, or even longer for men (in Southern Europe) and longer for women (in Central and Eastern Europe). The reported sex differentials in health require further analyses covering other social and behavioural factors, and their mutual interactions. As shown in previous studies, it can be expected that in countries where men and women have similar lifestyles and behave similarly, their health status will be more similar (Crimmins et al., 2011; Molarius et al., 2006).

In essentially all countries, the age to which men can live without health problems causing functional limitations or limiting daily activity is greater than 65, which is the official retirement age in most of the countries analysed. The earliest such limitations and health problems appear in men in Estonia and Poland. Also for women in these two countries and in the Czech Republic, at close to or just over the age of 65, people may on average be limited in their activities of daily living and suffer from chronic morbidities, which reduces their capacity to work. Most of the other countries have a significantly longer expectancy in good health, with no functional limitations and no limitations in daily activities until after the age of 70. The older adults enjoying the best health are to be found in Sweden, France, Italy and Austria, as well as Slovenia, Spain and Greece.

Interesting as they are, the findings of our study should be considered with certain limitations in mind. First, the SHARE study did not include people living in an institution. In addition, the assessments of health status and its limitations are self-reported information, which may introduce biases into the results, as the perception of one's health status and experienced difficulties may be partly influenced by the respondents' level of knowledge about their health in general. Overall, the literature shows a tendency that the more severe the health and disability situation, such as personal care activity restrictions, the lower the sensitivity to variations in self-reporting (Tager et al., 1998). The computation method uses the cross-sectional and prevalence data approach, and not current risk of health limitations and disability. In the case that older adults' current living conditions and opportunities for medical or instrumental support are better than in the past, this may lead to an under-estimation of the measures of healthy life years. On the other hand, when the health situation of older adults deteriorates due to unforeseen events, such as the COVID-19 pandemic situation, it may result in an over-estimation of both life expectancy and life expectancy in particular health states.

## Acknowledgements

This paper uses data from SHARE Waves 7 (DOIs: 10.6103/ SHARE.w7.800), see Börsch-Supan et al. (2013) for methodological details. The SHARE data collection has been funded by the European Commission, DG RTD through FP5 (QLK6-CT-2001-00360), FP6 (SHARE-I3: RII-CT-2006-062193, COMPARE: CIT5-CT-2005-028857, SHARELIFE: CIT4-CT-2006-028812), FP7 (SHARE-PREP: GA N°211909, SHARE-LEAP: GA Nº227822, SHARE M4: GA Nº261982, DASISH: GA N°283646) and Horizon 2020 (SHARE-DEV3: GA N°676536, SHARE-COHESION: GA Nº870628, SERISS: GA Nº654221, SSHOC: GA N°823782, SHARE-COVID19: GA N°101015924) and by DG Employment, Social Affairs & Inclusion through VS 2015/0195, VS 2016/0135, VS 2018/0285, VS 2019/0332, and VS 2020/0313. Additional funding from the German Ministry of Education and Research, the Max Planck Society for the Advancement of Science, the U.S. National Institute on Aging (U01\_AG09740-13S2, P01\_AG005842, P01\_AG08291, P30\_ AG12815, R21\_AG025169, Y1-AG-4553-01, IAG\_BSR06-11, OGHA\_04-064, HHSN271201300071C, RAG052527A) and from various national funding sources is gratefully acknowledged (see www.share-project.org). Research in this article is part of the project "Support for the implementation of panel surveys of people aged 50 and more, in the international project Survey of Health, Aging and Retirement in Europe (SHARE)", co-financed from the European Social Fund (POWR.02.04.00-00-0059/16).

## References

- Bogaert, P., Van Oyen, H., Beluche, I., Cambois, E. & Robine, J.M. (2018). The use of the Global Activity Limitation Indicator and healthy life years by member states and the European Commission. *Archives of Public Health*, 76: 30–37. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1186/s13690-018-0279-z.
- Börsch-Supan, A. (2020). Survey of Health, Ageing and Retirement in Europe (SHARE) Wave 7. Release version: 7.1.1. SHARE-ERIC. Data set. DOI: 10.6103/SHARE. w7.711.
- Börsch-Supan, A., Brandt, M., Hunkler, C., Kneip, T., Korbmacher, J., Malter, F., Schaan, B., Stuck, S. & Zuber, S. (2013). Data Resource Profile: The Survey of Health, Ageing and Retirement in Europe (SHARE). *International Journal of Epidemiology*, 42(4): 992–1001. DOI: https://doi. org/10.1093/ije/dyt088.

- Cambois, E., Clavel, A., Romieu, I. & Robine, J.M. (2008). Trends in disability-free life expectancy at age 65 in France: consistent and diverging patterns according to the underlying disability measure. *European Journal* of Ageing, 5: 287–298. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10433-008-0097-1.
- Case, A. & Paxson, C. (2005). Sex differences in morbidity and mortality. *Demography*, 42: 189–214. DOI: 10.1353/ dem.2005.0011.
- Crimmins, E.M., Kim, J.K. & Solé-Auró, A. (2011). Gender differences in health: results from SHARE, ELSA and HRS. *European Journal of Public Health*, 21(1): 81–91. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1093/eurpub/ckq022.
- de Breij, S., Huisman, M. & Deeg, D.J.H. (2019). Macrolevel determinants of post-retirement health and health inequalities: A multilevel analysis of 18 European countries. Social Science and Medicine, 245: 112669. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2019.112669.
- DeSalvo, K.B., Bloser, N., Reynold, K., He, J. & Muntner, P. (2006). Mortality prediction with a single general self-rated health question. A meta-analysis. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 21(3): 267–275. DOI: https:// doi.org/10.1111/j.1525-1497.2005.00291.x.
- Fong, J.H. (2019). Disability incidence and functional decline among older adults with major chronic diseases. *BMC Geriatrics*, 19(1): 323. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1186/ s12877-019-1348-z.
- Guccione, A.A., Felson, D.T., Anderson, J.J., Anthony, J.M., Zhang, Y. & Wilson, P.W. (1994). The effects of specific medical conditions on the functional limitations of elders in the Framingham Study. *American Journal* of *Public Health*, 84(3): 351–358. DOI: https://doi. org/10.2105/AJPH.84.3.351.
- Hardy, M.A., Acciai, F., & Reyes, A.M. (2014). How Health Conditions Translate into Self-Ratings. *Journal of Health and Social Behavior*, 55: 320–341. DOI: https://doi. org/10.1177/0022146514541446.
- Human Mortality Database (2021). University of California, Berkeley (USA), and Max Planck Institute for Demographic Research (Germany). Available at: www.mortality.org or www.humanmortality.de (Access 11 April 2021).
- Jagger, C., Arthur, A.J., Spiers, N.A. & Clarke, M. (2001). Patterns of onset of disability in activities of daily living with age. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society* (*JAGS*), 49: 404–409. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1046/ j.1532-5415.2001.49083.x.

- Jagger, C., Cox, B., Le Roy, S. & the EHEMU. (2007). Health Expectancy Calculation by the Sullivan Method. EHEMU Technical Report 2006-3. Montpellie, France: EHEMU.
- Jagger, C., Gillies, C., Cambois, E., Van Oyen, H., Nusselder, W., Robine, J.M. & EHLEIS Team. (2010). The Global Activity Limitation Index measured function and disability similarly across European countries. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology*, 63: 892-899. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclinepi.2009.11.002.
- Jagger, C., Weston, C., Cambois, E., Oyen, H., Nusselder, W., Doblhammer, G., Rychtarikova, J., Robine, J-M. & EHLEIS team. (2011). Inequalities in health expectancies at older ages in the European Union: findings from the Survey of Health and Retirement in Europe (SHARE). *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health*, 65: 1030–1035. DOI: http://dx.doi. org/10.1136/jech.2010.117705.
- Katz, S., Ford, A.B., Moskowitz, R.W., Jackson, B.A. & Jaffe, M.W. (1963). Studies of illness in the aged. The index of ADL: a standardized measure of biological and psychosocial function. *Journal of the American Medical Association*, 185: 914–919. DOI: 10.1001/ jama.1963.03060120024016.
- Kukuła, K. (2000). *Metoda unitaryzacji zerowanej* (Zero unitarization method – in Polish), Warsaw: Wydawnictwo Naukowe PWN.
- Kyu, H.H., Abate, D., Abate, K.H. et al. (GBD 2017 DALYs and HALE Collaborators) (2018). Global, regional, and national disability-adjusted life-years (DALYs) for 359 diseases and injuries and healthy life expectancy (HALE) for 195 countries and territories, 1990–2017: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2017. *Lancet*, 392: 1859–1922. DOI: https://doi. org/10.1016/S0140-6736(18)32335-3.
- Lawton, M.P. & Brody, E.M. (1969). Assessment of older people: self-maintaining and instrumental activities of daily living. *The Gerontologist*, 9: 179–186. DOI: https:// doi.org/10.1093/geront/9.3\_Part\_1.179.
- Martikainen, M.G., Aromaa, A., Heliovaara, M., Dlaukka, T., Knekt, P., Maatele, J. & Lahelma, E. (1999). Reliability of perceived health by sex and age. *Social Science and Medicine*, 48(8): 1117–1122. DOI: https:// doi.org/10.1016/S0277-9536(98)00416-X.

- Mathers, C.D. & Robine, J.M. (1997). How good is Sullivan's method for monitoring changes in population health expectancies. *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health*, 51: 80–86. DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/jech.51.1.80.
- Murray, C.J., Salomon, J.A., Mathers, C.D. & Lopez, A.D. (2002). Summary measures of population health. Concepts, ethics, measurement and applications. World Health Organization, Geneva. Available at: https://apps. who.int/iris/handle/10665/42439 (Access 3 March 2022).
- Molarius, A., Berglund, K., Eriksson, C., Lambe, M., Nordström, E., Eriksson, H.G. & Feldman, I. (2006). Socioeconomic conditions, lifestyle factors, and selfrated health among men and women in Sweden. *European Journal of Public Health*, 17: 125–133. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1093/eurpub/ckl070.
- Myers, G., Lamb, V. & Agree, E. (2003). Patterns of disability change associated with the epidemiologic transition. In: J.M. Robine, C. Jagger, C.D. Mathers, E. Crimmins, R. Suzman (Eds.) *Determining health expectancies*. Wiley, Chichester, 59–74.
- Olshansky, S.J. & Ault, B. (1986). The fourth stage of the Epidemiologic Transition: the age of delayed degenerative diseases. *The Milbank Quarterly*, 64(3): 355–391. DOI: https://doi.org/10.2307/3350025.
- Panek, T. (2009). Statystyczne metody wielowymiarowej analizy porównawczej (Statistical methods of multivariate comparative analysis – in Polish). Warsaw: Oficyna Wydawnicza Szkoły Głównej Handlowej w Warszawie.
- Pongiglione, B., De Stavola, B.L. & Ploubidis, G.B. (2015). A Systematic Literature Review of Studies Analyzing Inequalities in Health Expectancy among the Older Population. *PLoS One*, 26, 10(6): e0130747. DOI: https:// doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0130747.
- Scherbov, S., & Weber, D. (2017). Future trends in the prevalence of severe activity limitations among older adults in Europe: a cross-national population study using EU-SILC. *BMJ Open*, 7(9): e017654. DOI: http:// dx.doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2017-017654.
- Sullivan, D.F. (1971). A single index of mortality and morbidity. HSMHA Health Reports, 86(4): 347–354. DOI: https://doi.org/10.2307/4594169.
- Tager, I.B., Swanson, A. & Satariano, W.A. (1998). Reliability of physical performance and self-reported functional measures in an older population. *The Journals*

of Gerontology, 53A(4): M295–M300. DOI: https://doiorg.eres.qnl.qa/10.1093/gerona/53A.4.M295.

- Van Oyen, H., Bogaert, P., Yokota, R.T.C. & Berger, N. (2018). Measuring disability: a systematic review of the validity and reliability of the Global Activity Limitations Indicator (GALI). *Archives of Public Health*, 76: 25. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1186/s13690-018-0270-8.
- Van Oyen, H., Cox, B., Demarest, S., Deboosere, P. & Lorant, V. (2008). Trends in health expectancy indicators in the older adult population in Belgium between 1997 and 2004. *European Journal of Ageing*, 5(2): 137–146. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1007/s10433-008-0082-8.
- Van Oyen, H., Nusselder, W.J., Jagger, C., Kolip, P., Cambois, E., & Robine, J.M. (2012). Gender differences in healthy life years within the EU: an exploration of the "health-survival" paradox. *International Journal of Public Health*, 58: 143–155. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00038-012-0361-1.
- Verbrugge, L.M. & Jette, A.M. (1994). The disablement process. *Social Science and Medicine*, 38(1): 1–14. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/0277-9536(94)90294-1.
- Wróblewska, W. (2008). Sumaryczne miary stanu zdrowia populacji (Summary measures of population health – in Polish). *Studia Demograficzne*, 1/2 (153/154): 3–53. Available at: https://econjournals.sgh.waw.pl/SD/article/ view/2601 (Access 3 March 2022).

